

UNIVERSITATEA BABEȘ-BOLYAI Cluj-Napoca



FACULTATEA DE ȘTIINȚE ECONOMICE ȘI GESTIUNEA AFACERILOR România Ministerul Educației, Cercetării și Inovării Universitatea Babeș-Bolyai Cluj-Napoca Facultatea de Științe Economice și Gestiunea Afacerilor Str. Teodor Mihali nr. 58-60 400591, Cluj-Napoca Tel: 0264 418655 Fax: 0264 412570 E-mail: econ@econ.ubbcluj.ro

## **DOCTORAL THESIS**

## Summary

## Means of Improving the Management of Human Resources in Enterprises from the Textile Manufacture Industry

Scientific advisor: Prof. univ. dr. Liviu Ilies

> Ph. D. student: Cuza Bogdan

Cluj-Napoca 2013

### **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction
2. Research objectives and hypothesis
3. Research Methodology
4. A model of human resource management audit. Case study on identifying best practices and
ways to improve human resource management in enterprises from textile industry7
5. Developing a model of internal HR audit. Case Study at S.C. TRIMAR
6. Conclusions regarding the human resource management in enterprises in the textile industry in
Romania 10
7. Theoretical and practical contributions
7.1 Theoretical research 12
7.2 Empirical research
7.3 Personal contributions
SELECTIVE REFERENCES

#### **1. Introduction**

Human resource management must face new challenges, given that organizational change is a new and complex activity of the human resource function. A firm survives on the market as long as through the results of its activity, it responds adequately both to the external and internal customers, such as employees, which in the opinion of specialists is a critical resource.

The research made for the development of this thesis is based on the belief that economic activity is not only focused on obtaining and maximizing profits, but it is a complex and dynamic process, which involves most varied resources, including efforts or employees' creativity. We live in a knowledge based society, which is becoming an increasingly vital resource for success in business. From this perspective, employees often become its most important asset, as carriers of knowledge. Treating employees as simple inputs or seeing them only as a source generating costs is the sure way to failure.

Human resource management is an important tool in ensuring competitive advantage. It provides strategic approach to managing labor relations in order to use employee skills, a critical aspect in achieving a sustainable competitive advantage, which requires a specific set of policies, programs and integrated working practices.

Human resource management emphasizes the idea that people make the difference, only they have the ability to generate value, that human knowledge and skills are strategic resources to be managed competently. Another feature of human resource management is linked to the concept of integration that involves a set of policies, programs and practices, expressed in a coherent way and integrated into the organizational strategy, in order to maximize employees' contributions to achieving organizational goals. Schultz, an economist who won the Nobel Prize in 1979, claims that economic development depends on the application of knowledge, calling this economic aspect 'human capital', by taking into account all human abilities, whether innate or acquired.

Human resource management covers a range of knowledge and a set of policies and practices that modulates and regulates the nature of work relations. Human resource management practices are an investment in human capital, given its role in ensuring competitive advantage which explains the investment efforts successful firms have in education, training, and skills development when they are not transferable. They are designed to reduce the gap between the potential and real performance of employees, as specialists explain.

Our research included the most important functions, policies, programs and key human resource management practices designed to achieve the objectives of the organization and of the employees. These are: planning, staffing, training and staff development; motivating (design and management of reward systems), HR practices of recruitment, selection, involvement in work and training, performance evaluation and payroll, managing and monitoring security workplace, health and welfare policies to retain competent workforce.

#### 2. Research objectives and hypothesis

Starting from the truth that human resource is the main value of the company and it ensures market competitiveness; the research approach initiated and developed in the doctoral thesis has as main objective: "the development of an analytical model for identifying best practices and ways of improving human resource management, and their implementation in textile clothing industry companies in Romania".

To achieve the general objective we proposed a series of specific objectives that can be summarized as:

• developing a model of evaluation and performance audit for human resource activities and processes, in order to identify measures to improve human resource management in enterprises in textile clothing industry;

• highlighting the potential benefits of improving human resource activities, processes and human resource management, using a survey (poll) within companies from the textile industry in Romania;

• identifying specific ways and best practices in operationalization of activities and processes, from the human resource field, namely for improving human resource management within companies from the textile industry;

• highlighting the most appropriate ways by which company management can improve the efficiency and effectiveness of human resource use, taking into account the characteristics and particularities of planning, organizing and operationalizing of human resource activities and processes;

• effective and efficient organization and coordination of information flows as a result of amplification of HR activities and processes through the use of information technology in managing information flows;

• outsourcing activities and HR business processes from companies from the textile industry in Romania by developing partnerships with vendors specializing in this field, in order to better exploit the opportunities offered by the market, through developing planning and collaboration practices with them.

The research is based on the following hypothesis:

*General Hypothesis*: models for analysis and evaluation of human resource management in enterprises from textile clothing industry must be adapted according to the complexity of the process, the features and particularities of the specific activities, the characteristics of the companies that apply and manage these processes, and to the characteristics of the human resources.

• *Hypothesis 1:* Development and implementation of human resource management strategies, determine the effectiveness and efficiency operationalization of HR activities and processes.

• *Hypothesis* 2: The impact of employee involvement in HR activities and processes is stronger when they are more complex.

• *Hypothesis 3:* Companies that develop effective and efficient communication programs have a higher level of employee involvement in work, compared to those with ineffective systems (inadequate) communication.

• *Hypothesis 4:* Companies that demonstrate fairness towards employees have the ability to motivate, recognize and reward superior performance, have a clear strategy in human resources and achieve superior performance.

• *Hypothesis 5:* Strategies, policies and actions related to human resources are related to obtaining better performance both at the organizational level and at the level of each employee.

#### 3. Research Methodology

In our research we used both qualitative methods, namely interviews and case studies, and quantitative methods based on the survey, where the questionnaire was the main used instrument.

The questionnaire aims at analyzing the activities and processes within the HR function and identifying best practices and ways to improve human resource management, based on information provided by the respondents. The objective of the study is to emphasize both best practices in human resource field and complex issues faced by companies in the textile industry, regarding planning, organization, command and control of activities and processes in the human resource field.

The first part of the questionnaire refers to factors determining the overall performance of human resource management by formulating 17 questions (where the answer is Yes or No), and the second part contains a set of factors considered important in assessing activities and processes of the human resource management. To assess the 99 identified factors (of 134 proposed by us) on the basis of pre-testing with experts in business and consulting firms, we used a Likert scale for testing agreement from 1 to 5 (where: 1 - Strongly disagree, 2 – disagree, 3 – undecided, 4 – agree, 5 - strongly agree, or 1 not at all important and 5 - very important).

The questionnaire highlights the key factors regarding human resource performance that give companies a competitive advantage. Questions and answers from the questionnaire were addressed to managers, professionals in human resource field and other functional areas (marketing, production etc.) and employees (workers).

The survey was followed by interviews with managers and professionals in human resources especially from the investigated companies and consulting firms. Therefore, we were able to obtain detailed information about the issues covered by the questionnaire (Appendix 1) from 16 persons of which 11 are human resource managers, 3 consultants in HR issues and 2 are HR specialist. The issues referred within the interviews are mostly focused on problems faced by enterprises in textile industry in ensuring effective and efficient human resource management and identifying best practices and ways to improve it. Information focused on: HR strategies and policies, operationalization of human resource activities and processes, organizational communication as a support in staff involvement, motivation systems, hiring practices, performance measurement, staff evaluation (employees and managers); information systems in human resource field and at organizational level, quality management system characteristics in human resource field, work ergonomics, social responsibility.

Information obtained by data processing and interpretation of the results were used to develop solutions and recommendations for the development of the strategic dimension of human resource management and of measures to increase the effectiveness and efficiency of HR activities and processes. We also aimed to identify best practices in the field, taking into account both the practices developed by practitioners, through literature study, and those accepted and used by practitioners from the investigated companies and other studies in field. Of course, the best practices were used as standards in the analysis, namely in planning, organizing, coordinating, training and human resource management subsystem control.

We have to mention that we managed to obtain important information from the companies surveyed, consisting in a representative sample, given their concern for the development and implementation of best practices, for improving human resource management in clothing manufacture.

The study aims to find the most effective ways to analyze and identify best practices in human resource management in enterprises from the textile industry, in order to improve it.

For this purpose we have identified a sample of 12 companies in the textile industry, of which 4 are SMEs, from which we included in the study a total of 160 persons, including 52 managers and 108 employees in departments of human resources and other functional departments, of production or other auxiliary activities and serving.

Of the 160 questionnaires sent 95 were received, of which 12 were not valid, resulting 83 valid questionnaires, which were the basis for the analysis. Among those who responded are 42 managers and specialists. These are joined by a number of 41 workers. Of the 32 managers, 19 are working in human resources, 10 are top managers and three working in other functional departments (activities of procurement and materials management, production and software management).

Regarding the people receiving questionnaires, 16 were involved in broader discussions on the topic promoted by us, people who participated in the interview. We did not make a selection of the persons investigated according to age, but we considered to attract persons especially among managers with experience in human resource management from textile enterprises.

Questionnaires were analyzed in order to be able to select only those valid. Consequently, we obtained a response rate of 51.87%. The 83 valid questionnaires were numbered and introduced in the data processing program. Graphs were generated using the Excel program. For data analysis and interpretation we calculated the relative frequencies for the entire sample and for some questions we calculated the average score (the arithmetic average of grades ticked by respondents weighted with frequencies obtained for each grade, from 1 to 5). We believe that the study has a high relevance given the very good response rate and the homogeneity of the chosen sample of enterprises.

Of the companies surveyed, only 3 were interested in a broader discussion-based collaboration, enabling detailed analysis of issues raised in the questionnaire, that will lead to identifying and implementing ways of improving the human resource management, since the financial economic crisis caused a reduction in labor costs on one hand, and on the other hand reducing or even eliminating staff training and development expenditures in the textile industry, with adverse consequences on the effectiveness and efficiency of the company, on its competitiveness, in the assurance of skilled and motivated workforce, influencing the economic results of the enterprises.

## 4. A model of human resource management audit. Case study on identifying best practices and ways to improve human resource management in enterprises from textile industry

Strategic and operational objectives concerning the human resources within the organization cannot be established without the development of a model for the analysis of human resource management, or in other words, the design and development of an audit model to highlight not only the strengths of the organization but rather the weaknesses, opportunities and threats.

The empirical study has started in 2010 and was completed in 2013. In the first phase of the study we completed the questionnaire after a pre-testing based on specialists' opinion, then we distributed questionnaires both personally and by e-mail and we collected the data.

In the second stage we did the data processing, followed by analysis and interpretation of results, conclusions, recommendations and proposals aimed at improving the management of human resources in enterprises in the textile industry by identifying best practices and develop ways to improve the activities and processes within the human resource field, to increase their effectiveness and efficiency.

Based on the mission and business objectives, and taking into account the purpose of our research to identify best practices in human resources, within textile industry, for our study we aimed to identify a large number of critical variables based on quantitative and qualitative information, which were grouped into the following categories: general management, human resources quality assurance (quality management), technology, human resource planning, recruitment, selection, staff integration, motivation, evaluation, involvement in work, staff development; protection of employees, health and safety at work.

Through the audit model we intend to analyze the activities and processes within the HR function and identify best practices and ways to improve human resource management, based on information provided by enterprises or by managers, human resource specialists and by workers in production of functional activities. In order to audit the human resources, within enterprises of textile clothing, that highlight operational performance, we studied an extensive literature, reports and analysis that aim performance in the field, we also organized a survey based on a questionnaire and interviews including not only operational activities and processes in human resource management, but also matters affecting the functional area considered critical to the success of any organization.

The most important factors that were included in the study to design the questionnaire and interviews relate to the main challenges of human resource management, such as:

- changes occurring in the labor market within the textile industry, marked by high turnover of labor;
- strategies, policies and practices in human resource field;
- increased costs of financial resources allocated for training and education.

Analysis of HR activities and processes, both in terms of the strategic dimension and their operationalization was performed using a model of human resource management audit, in order to identify best practices and ways to improve the human resource management, on the sample of firms investigated in the textile manufacture industry.

For the analysis we used the human resource management questionnaire. The first part contains the factors determining the overall performance of human resource management, taking into account the strategic dimension. The factors considered in the second part, representative for the performance evaluation activities and processes, were grouped into the following categories: personnel management, quality management, technology, human resource planning, recruitment, selection, integration staff, motivation, assessment, work engagement, training and development, environmental protection, health and safety at work.

#### 5. Developing a model of internal HR audit. Case Study at S.C. TRIMAR

In this research we aimed to achieve an internal audit of human resources, namely a management audit that meets the need of evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of the operationalization of specific activities and processes and of the organizational performance within the HR function (staff).

The fact that we tried to develop a model of internal HR audit, is argued by the fact that more and more experts believe that organizational and financial assessments based on performance measures proved to be insufficient. Carton and Hofer (2006) believe that performance measurement systems have the disadvantage that they are results oriented, and they often confuse the determinants of performance with performance measurement.

Best practices identified by the audit model (Cap.6.2) can be used as performance standards; they ensure the effectiveness of the design and implementation of HR strategies and policies. As Bogan and Englis (1996) show, they can be warning signals and effective support for managers when making business changes. As many specialists say, both in theory and in practice, they are present at the management level and at the level of each function, in our case the HR function (personnel). Even though they often provide generic solutions, they can be easily implemented and evaluated. The audit activity in this area by identifying strengths, weaknesses and the ways (solutions) of improvement represents an analysis for the diagnosis and assessment of the organizational functional HR system.

# 6. Conclusions regarding the human resource management in enterprises in the textile industry in Romania

Experimental research based on a model of human resource audit aims to identify best practices and complex issues faced by enterprises in the textile industry, to find the most appropriate ways of improving the management of human resources.

The analysis reveals the concern at the management level of the analyzed enterprises to ensure performance in human resource management.

Based on the general objective and the specific objectives of the experimental research, were formulated a series of proposals to improve the management of human resources and increase the efficiency and effectiveness of specific activities. These can be summarized as follows:

- Developing effective and efficient communication programs to achieve a higher level of employee involvement in work, is important in order to ensure the competitive advantage;
- Strengthening specific values of organizational culture that stimulates behavior is needed;
- Creating a guide of best practices in human resource management that ensure both the effectiveness and efficiency in developing human resource strategies and policies and the operationalization of activities specific to this functional area, are important premises for improving human resource management;
- Managers must be concerned not only for the development of HR strategies and policies but also to constantly update them, in order to keep up with changes of the factors determining the overall performance of the human resource management and the factors determining the performance of specific activities and processes;
- Improving information system is needed, enabling the collection, transmission and archiving of data, flows and indicators system specific to the human resource field, in order to facilitate the implementation of strategies, policies and best practices for achieving the organizational goals and the HR objectives;
- Providing training and continuous improvement of the management and execution team is needed, for achieving strategic and operational objectives at the organizational level and at the level of the HR function;

- Clearly define the objectives of human resource management, covering the entire range of issues related to the system, structure, mission, people, reward system, personnel evaluation, involvement and employees integration;
- Outsourcing the human resource activities based on solid analysis, which provide good functionality to the organizational structure, coordinating the outsourced activities with the providers specialized in the field, and obtaining the expected benefits by developing sustainable partnerships with them;
- Effective implementation of social responsibility system based on professionally trained staff, good information, responsible social practices, effective policies to ensure health and safety at work, fair payment system, fairness of employment practices, adequate working conditions, transparency of decision making, environment issues, strengthening participatory management principles;
- Increased attention to managerial ethics is needed, given its role in increasing the company's capacity to respond to social problems in the enterprise;
- Regular assessment of employees' job satisfaction is needed, given its importance in promoting good relations between managers and employees, between employees, to strengthen team spirit and stimulate work performance;
- Regular completion (annually) of a human resource internal audit is needed, to highlight weaknesses in the management and operationalization of HR activities and processes, identifying ways for improvement based on best practices and improving strategic and operational processes of human resource management;
- Defining processes to evaluate and update the company's strategy and policy in the human resource field, based on an adequate strategic analysis;
- Strengthening leadership in the human resource field.

#### 7. Theoretical and practical contributions

The thesis approaches a human resources specific topic, the study of human resource management in clothing manufacture (textile industry). The research is based on the following objectives:

A. Bibliographical study, on human resource management, namely its role in ensuring the quality of human resources and the impact of HR strategies and policies on organizational performance;

• determination based on literature study and studies in the field of the main characteristics of the activities and processes of human resource management;

• literature study on the role of human resource management in ensuring competitive advantage and the impact of HR strategies, specific activities and processes on the performance of the textile enterprises.

B. The development of theoretical models for the analysis of HR activities and processes for designing and implementing human resources strategies and policies including the strategic analysis of HR function, oriented on quality assurance and obtaining superior performance.

C. The empirical study on the analysis of enterprises in textile industry, in terms of developing and implementing HR strategies and policies, oriented towards performance and finding the most appropriate ways to improve human resource management, follows:

• the analysis of the evolution and complexity of human resource management in textile enterprises in Romania;

• finding solutions to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of HR activities and processes, identify best practices that will provide a guide for both enterprises in the textile industry, and those of knitting industry.

#### 7.1 Theoretical research

It is based on an important bibliographic study that includes titles of books and articles, many of which are from foreign literature, plus those in electronic format from international databases that can be accessed on the internet. The references contain information regarding management, strategic management, knowledge management, human resource management, business ethics, organizational behavior, microeconomics, change management, sociology etc.

The experimental studies mentioned in the paper are both from foreign literature and from Romania, but in the textile industry, few meaningful studies were found. It can also be said that we cannot speak of a coherent human resources strategy, at national level in the textile

industry, which aims to promote and support the Romanian companies on national and international markets, where competition is increasingly intense.

Theoretical research in human resource aims to explain why successful companies managed to implement effective and efficient strategies and policies in human resource field through the application of appropriate evaluation and analysis models of specific activities and processes and identifying best practices in the field.

Theoretical research includes a study of the literature. The main goal was not only finding relevant information on human resources management, but also developing some analysis models. For this we used a rich bibliography relevant to the investigation, which allowed us to define the theoretical foundations of human resource management, taking into account the complexity of HR activities and processes in textile industrial enterprises.

The scientific approach was based on the analysis of the operational performance of human resource processes and activities and of the behavior dimension of the organization as part of the human resource strategy, which together with the marketing and production strategy are part of the company's strategic plan. We intend also to consider how useful such information is for managers for developing policies and practices in human resource management. We also highlighted the role and importance of the motivation and communication in achieving superior performance, taking into account the characteristics of the company and of the human resource.

#### 7.2 Empirical research

The empirical research is based on the following:

• results of studies on the identification of human resource management process variables and their analysis;

• model analysis on a representative sample of enterprises in the textile industry in Romania, based on a questionnaire and interview that aim to assess the human resource activities and processes, whether they use methods, techniques and tools for assessment and analysis of human resources management;

• a case study of representative companies in the textile industry, concerning operationalization of HR processes, employee performance evaluation, recruitment, selection and evaluation of personnel etc.

The purpose of the experimental research was to identify the characteristics and variables that determine the effectiveness and efficiency of activities and processes specific to the human resource management, which have a significant impact on performance in operationalization of the HR function (personnel).

Through this research we tried to raise awareness among managers and employees in textile clothing industry enterprises in Romania to identify and study best practices in human resources and apply them in order to gain competitive advantage.

The main practical contributions, of our research can be summarized as follows:

• determining the relative stage design, organization and operationalization of activities and processes from the human resources field, of strategies and policies implemented by the textile industry companies in Romania;

• identifying variables and characteristics of the planning process, organization and control of human resources, i.e. their management, which determines the effectiveness of strategies, policies and practices in human resources;

• identifying best practices and ways to improve the management of human resources and benefits derived from their implementation.

#### 7.3 Personal contributions

The main personal contributions of our study can be summarized as follows:

• defining specific concepts of human resource management based on literature study and their analysis for creating an adequate framework for the empirical research;

• developing of an audit model for evaluating and strategic analysis of human resources and the way in which the human resource strategy, policies and practices contribute to the achievement of individual objectives and targets;

• determining the specific ways in which organizational culture values determine the behavior of employees, work involvement and interaction, in order to increase the performance of human resources;

• conducting a management audit in order to assess the management of human resources, the effectiveness and efficiency of its performance;

• analyzing the situation of human resources in the textile clothing industry enterprises in Romania, and assessing the opportunity of development and implementation of human resources strategies, and the main barriers to effective and efficient management of human resources, having as starting point a representative sample of industrial enterprises of clothing manufacture;

• identifying ways to improve the programs of action for operationalization of HR activities and processes in enterprises of clothing manufacture.

We need to emphasize that the research was conducted following a code of best practices and the transmission of research results to the companies that were analyzed took place. We also need to highlight that the research results, the competence and experience of author, provides the premises of a rigorous analysis of the outlined problems.

Also, we can invoke fairness in presenting the views of managers and specialists from the industrial enterprises that were subject to analysis, given the practical results, the experience and responsibilities of the author in the field of textile industry.

#### SELECTIVE REFERENCES

- Abrudan, I., Sisteme flexibile de fabricație. Concepte de proiectare şi management, Editura Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 1996
- Administrarea industriala si generala, republicata în Germania în anul 1929, Allgemeine und industrielle Verwaltung, Verlag/editura Oldenbourg München
- Anania, Bartolomeu Valeriu, "Biblia sau Sfânta Scriptura", Editie jubiliara a Sfântului Sinod, Ed. Institutului Biblic si de Misiune al Bisericii Ortodoxe Române, Bucuresti, 2001
- 4. Androniceanu, A., Managementul Schimbărilor, Editura All, București, 1998.
- Anthony, P., W., Perrewe, P., L., Kacmar, M., K., Human Resource Management, A Strategic Approach, The Dryden Press, USA, 1999.
- Barbulescu, Constantin, Bâgu, Constantin, "Managementul productiei", Ed. Tribuna Economica, Bucuresti, 2001
- Bărbulescu, C., Economia şi gestiunea întreprinderii, Editura Economică, Bucureşti, 1996.
- Beaud, Michel, Dostaler, Gilles, "Gândirea economica de dupa Keynes", Eurosong&Book, 2000
- Becker, H.S., Rau W.C., "Sociology in the 1990s Society", Vol. 30, nr. 1, citat de Istoria ideilor sociologice, Antetxxpress, Prahova, 1992
- 10. Becker, Manfred, "Personalentwicklung", Schäffer-Pöschel, Stuttgart, 2002
- 11. Benedict, Ruth, "Echantillons de civilisation", 1934, opera citata de Istoria ideilor sociologice
- Bengtsson, L., Von Haartman, R. şi Dabhilkar, M., Low-Cost versus Innovation: Contrasting Outsourcing and Integration Strategies in Manufacturing, Creativity and Innovation Management, Vol. 18, No. 1, p. 35-47, Martie 2009
- 13. Benis, Warren, "On Becoming a Leader", 1998
- Berggren, C şi Bengtsson, L., Rethinking Outsourcing in Manufacturing: A Tale of Two Telecom Firms, European Journal Management, Vol. 22, No. 2, p. 211-223, 2004

- 15. Bergson, Henri, "Denken und schöpferisches werden", Eva TB, Frankfurt/Main, 1993
- Blackburn, D., J., Strategic manufacturing. Dynamic new directions for the 1990s., Business Irwin Inc., Chicago, USA, 1996
- Blake, R.R., McCanse, A.A., Leadership Dilemmasgrid solutions, Gulf Publishing, London, 1991
- 18. Böhm, Franz, "Wettbewerb und Monopolkampf", 1993
- Borza, A., Ilieş, I., Lazar, I., Mortan, M., Popa, M., Lungescu, D., Sonea, E., Vereş, V., Management, Editura Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca, 2005
- 20. Bourdieu, Pierre-Felix, Passeron, Jean-Claude, "Les Heritiers" (1964), "La Reproduction" (1970), opere citate de Istoria ideilor sociologice- Istoria sociologiei de la origini pâna la Weber, de la Parsons pâna la contemporani, Antet XX Press, Prahova
- 21. Burdus, Eugen, Cochina, Ion, Craciun, Lucia, Istocescu, Amedeo, "Întreprinzatorul",Ed. Pro Universitaria, 2010
- 22. Burman, R. Manufacturing Management, Mc Graw. Hill Bank Company, London, 1995
- 23. Câmpeanu-Sonea, E., Osoian, C., L., Managementul resursei umane. Recrutarea, selecția și dezvoltarea profesională, Press Universitars Clujeană, Cluj-Napoca, 2004.
- 24. Chase, J., Aquilano, P., Operation management, Prentice Hall Inc., New York, USA, 1993.
- 25. Chelcea, S., Inițiere în cercetarea sociologică, București: Editura Comunicare.ro, 2004
- 26. Cole, G.A., "Managementul personalului", Ed. Codecs, 2000
- 27. Constantinescu A.D., "Managementul resurselor umane", Colectia Nationala, Bucuresti, 1999
- Crainer, S., The Management Century, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, USA, 2000.
- 29. Daniels, Aubrey C., "Managementul performantei-Strategii de obtinere a rezultatelor maxime de la angajati", ed. Polirom, 2007
- 30. Drucker, P., Management challenges for the 21st Century, Harper Business, 2001
- 31. Drucker, P., On the profession of management, A Harvard Business Review Book, Boston, 2003

- 32. Drucker, Peter, "Salvationist", The Economist, 1 Octombrie 1994
- Fryxell, G.E., Nicolaescu, Ovidiu, "Strategii manageriale de firma",Ed. Economica, Bucuresti, 1998
- 34. Gilley, K. M., Greer, C. R. and Rasheed, A. A., Human resource outsourcing and organizational performance in manufacturing firms. Journal of Business, 2004
- Grapini, Maria, Presedinta Asociatiei Patronale a Textilistilor din România, "Fepaius",
  2006
- 36. Grünefeld, Hans-Günther, "Steuerung und Kontrolle de Personalaufwandes", 2000
- Harrington, H.I, Management total în firma Secolului 21, Editura Teora, Bucureşti, 2000.
- Hobeanu, Tudor, prof.univ.dr., "Motivarea complexa a resurselor umane", , Ed. Economica, Bucuresti, 2004
- Ilies, I., Osoian, C., Petelean, A., Managementul resurselor umane, Editura Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca, 2003
- 40. Ilieș L., Crișan E., Managementul firmei și planul de afaceri, Editura Risoprint, Cluj-Napoca, 2009
- 41. Ilieş, L. şi Crişan, E., Managementul calității totale. Cluj-Napoca: Risoprint, 2011
- 42. Ilieş, L., Osoian, C., Petelean, A., Managementul resurselor umane, Editura Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 2002.
- 43. Johns, G., Comportament organizațional, Editura Economică, București, 1998.
- 44. Jonker, J., Pennink, B., The Essence of Research Methodology. A Concise Guide of Marsters and PhD students in Management Science. Heildelberg: Springer, 2010
- 45. Jung, Peter, "Personalwirtschaft", Oldenbourg- Verlag, München, 2003
- 46. Makin-Charles Cox, Peter, "Schimbarea în organizatii-Optimizarea comportamentului angajatilor", Ed. Polirom, 2004
- 47. Manolescu, A., Managementul resurselor umane, Editura Economică, București, 2001.
- 48. Manolescu, Aurel, Lefter, Viorel, Deaconu, Alexandrina, Marinas, Cristian, Nica, Elvira, Puia, Ramona, Marin, Irinel, "Ergonomie", Editura Economica Bucuresti, 2010
- 49. Mathis, R., L., Nica, P., Rusu, C., Managementul resurselor umane, Editura Economică București, 1997

- 50. Mohn Reinhard, "Menschlichkeit gewinnt, Ed. Random House, München, 2001
- 51. Muresan, Sorin, "Economia Sociala de Piata- Modelul german", Ed. Cartimpex, 2003
- 52. Neuberger, Oswald, "Personalentwicklung", Ferdinand Enke Verlag, Stuttgart, 1994
- 53. Nica, P., Eftimescu, A., Management, Editura Sanvialy, Iași, 2004.
- 54. Nicolescu, O (coord)., Strategii manageriale de Firmă, Editura Economică, București, 1996
- 55. Nicolescu, Ovidiu, coordonator stiintific prof. univ. dr., "Managerii si managementul resurselor umane"
- 56. Olaru, M., Managementul Calității, Editura Economică. București, 1999
- 57. Osoian, C., Piața forței de muncă restructurare, șomaj, ocupare. Teorii, politici și propuneri pentru România, Editura Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 2005
- Pânisoara Georgeta, Pânisoara Ion-Ovidiu, "Managementul resurselor umane", Ed. Polirom, Bucuresti, 2005
- 59. Pfeffer, Jeffrey, "The Human Equation", Harvard Business School Press, Boston, 1998
- 60. Preda, Marian, "Comportament organizational teorii, exercitii si studii de caz", Iasi, Polirom, pg. 17, 2006
- 61. Schmidtke, Heinz , Bubb, Heiner, "Ergonomie- Subsystem Mensch", Carl Hanser Verlag, München-Wien, 1993
- 62. Schmidtke, Heinz, Bubb, Heiner, "Ergonomie", Carl Hanser Verlag, München-Wien, 1993
- 63. Verboncu, Ion, Zalman, Michael, "Management si performante", Ed. Universitara Bucuresti, pg. 120, 2005
- 64. Verlag, Karl-Siegbert, "Die Seele in technischen Zeitalter. Sozialpsychologische Probleme in den industriellen Gesellschaft", Frankfurt am Main, 2007
- 65. Vlăsceanu, M., Psihologia Organizațiilor și Conducerii, Editura Paideia, București, 1994
- 66. Vonnegut Kurt, Bergeron Harrison, "Welcome to the monkey house", New York, Ed. Delta, 1998
- 67. Wagner Rodd, James K., Harter, Ph.D., "Cele 12 elemente ale managementului performant", The Gallup Press, New York 2006, Ed. Alfa, 2009